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The Joseph Dean and Son Woolen Mill, now the Newark Fibre Mill of the NVF Company,
is situated along White Clay Creek to the north of Newark's central business district.

The race, which originally powered the Dean Woolen Mill, flows beneath the NVF
Paper Mill, an adjacent but much-altered . mill building. The fibre mill, the

successor to the Joseph Dean Mill, lies to the east of the paper mill. It stretches
out for some distance along White Clay Creek. This nomination is concerned with

the west end of the fibre mill complex. Several nineteenth-century structures are
found here, including the original stone structures of the Joseph Dean Mill. Nine

structures are included within the nominated area. Only two of these are considered
modern intrusions.

A grassy depressed area between Race Street and the creek clearly marks the former

path of the race, which served as power for this mill. It enters the oldest mill
structure (Building No. 1) through an arched opening on the building's west end.

The four-story stone structure has twelve-over-twelve light sash, set into seg-
mentally-arched frames. A corbelled brick cornice caps the wall; the roof is flat.

It is approximately 200' x 62' and has a brick fifth story over half its length.
Abutted to this is a 100' x 112' structure, which seems to date to about the same

period. It is also of stone, and is four stories with a brick cornice and flat roof.
Here, the windows have elliptical frames with double twelve-over-twelve sash. The
interior structure of both buildings is the same. Twelve-by-twelve chamfered posts
support a summer beam formed from four or five 3 x 12's bolted together. The joists
consist of three 3 x 12's bolted together. In some places, steel has been added to
reinforce stress points. The two-and-a-half-foot-thick walls have splayed window
openings.

Stretching out further along the river and abutted to the stone section are two
frame additions (Nos. 3 and 4). These two sections are separated by a brick wall.

Their construction clearly indicates different construction dates. They total 425'
in length and are about 112' wide. The exterior of these one-story structures is
sheathed in vertical board siding, some of which has been replaced by plywood. A
Waddell "A" truss, a late nineteenth-century version of the King Post truss, supports

the gable roof. It is constructed of heavy wooden timbers and supported by 6x12
wooden posts. A clerestory breaks the roof along its entire peak. The sash in this

section are set in large square frames.

The topography of the site is such that the building to the south of the mills (Build-
ing No. 6) is built into the hill which slopes down to the creek. An alleyway separates

the structures. From this passageway access can be gained to the first level of the
structure. The ceiling is a brick barrel vault system, with iron tie rods. The
structure is of stone, 225' x 59'. The exposed truss work for the gable roof is of
iron. A clerestory breaks the peak of the roof along its entire length. The windows
have twelve-over-twelve light sash set into square frames. Along the south side of
the building is a railroad track indicating that the building was used for shipping.
It is still used for that purpose. At the east end of the building a covered walkway
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Joseph Dean and Son Woolen Mill, now operated as the Newark Fibre Mill of the

NVF Company, is one of Delaware's earliest and largest cloth mills. The mill complex
is a significant reminder of a long-established industrial presence along the rivers

and streams of northern Delaware. Largely because of the care taken by the present
owners of the complex to retain the features of the nineteenth-century structures

therein, the mill also possesses unusual architectural significance.

In 1845, Joseph Dean purchased a grist mill on the banks of White Clay Creek near
Newark and convertedit into a woolen mill for the production of woolen yarns and

Kentucky jeans. He also built a dye house, warehouse, and workers' houses. Born
in England, Dean came to the United States in 1811 and secured employment in a Phila-

delphia woolen mill. He quickly learned the business and operated his own mill in
Philadelphia for nine years, until a need for increased water power led him to Newark.

In 1847 Joseph Dean formed a partnership with his son William, and in 1853 they en-

larged their production capacity considerably by building an additional mill to make
kersey and satinette. Financial difficulties arising from the depression of 1857

closed the mills for a year. When Joseph Dean died in 1861, William Dean took as a
partner, John Pilling, an experienced mill superintendent.

During the Civil War, the company expanded rapidly as a result of federal military

contracts. The Newark mills were enlarged and two more mills were built near Stanton,
Delaware. In addition, the company opened three mills in Pennsylvania and two more

in Maryland. The firm had the capacity to produce 500,000 yards of kersey and
400,000 blankets annually in its Delaware mills.

In order to raise additional capital to modernize their mills, Dean and Pilling
dissolved their partnership in 1881 and formed a joint stock company with a capital-
ization of $200,000, at fifty dollars a share. The new corporation, Dean Woolen
Company, became active in July 28, 1882, with John Pilling as president and William
Dean as secretary and treasurer. The new machinery went into operation in October
1882.

On Christmas Day, 1886, the Dean Woolen mills were gutted by fire and never reopened.
William Dean died the following year.
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provides access to an upper floor of the mill. On the east side of the walkway
is another structure (No. 5) which is architecturally of the same period.

On the crest of the hill is a warehouse (No. 10) which was originally a stable.

- This stuccoed stone structure has brick around its arched openings at each end
of the building. Upper level openings indicate a loft. The windows have six-
over-six light sashes. Also on the crest of the hill are two modexrn structures,
one sheathed in corrugated iron (No. 8) and the other stuccoed (No. 11). They
have no intrinsic value to the nominated area.

The NVF Company mill is located to the north of the densely populated residential
and commercial area south of Cleveland Avenue and to the south of an agricultural
area across the creek.
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National Vulcanized Fibre (NVF) acquired the property some time later, and was
able to rehabilitate much of the burned-out portions of the woolen mill and to
adapt the mill buildings to their manufacturing requirements. NVF still produces
specialized fabrics in the original Joseph Dean buildings.

The seven oldest buildings of the complex possess architectural significance, as
they still retain their late nineteenth-~century structural systems and exterior
fenestration. The structural systems include thick load-bearing exterior stone
walls, heavy timber floor and beam construction and, where gable roofs were used,
Waddell "A" truss systems. The segmentally-arched brick window and door surrounds
and brick cornices clearly define these simple architectural elements of the
rather massive industrial buildings.
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